Development of Neuronal Cell-Type Inducible GM-CSF Gene Expression System and Combined Cell Therapy in Spinal Cord Injury Model

Youngsang You Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University

Development of Neuronal Cell-Type Inducible GM-CSF Gene Expression System and Combined Cell Therapy in Spinal Cord Injury Model

Directed by Professor Yoon Ha

The Master's Thesis submitted to the Department of Medical Science, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Science

Youngsang You

December 2014

This certifies that the Master's Thesis Of Youngsang You is approved.

Thesis Supervisor : Yoon Ha

Thesis Committee Member#1 : Keung Nyun Kim

Thesis Committee Member#2 : Bae Hwan Lee

The Graduate School Yonsei University

December 2014

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

2 년이라는 시간 동안 프로젝트를 진행하여 석사 학위 논문을 완성하기까지 찰나처럼 느껴지듯 순식간에 지나왔다고 생각합니다. 가장 먼저, 프로젝트를 진행과 완성에 있어서 격려와 지원을 아낌없이 해주시고 지도해주신 하 윤 교수님께 머리 숙여 깊은 감사를 드립니다. 또한 논문 진행에 있어서 진심 어린 조언을 아낌없이 해 주신 김긍년 교수님과 이배환 교수님께 감사를 드립니다.

주변의 수없이 많은 응원과 격려가 없었다면 지금의 결실을 맺지 못했을 것입니다. 조언과 응원을 아끼지 않았던 차려화, 이혜영, 이혜란, 윤여민 선생님과 연구 진행에 있어서 많은 실패와 난관이 있음이 있었지만 처음부터 끊임없는 조언과 진행을 함께해준 저의 사수이자 멘토인 오진수 선생님께 감사의 말씀을 전합니다.

신경외과 교실에서 겪은 경험은 제 삶에 있어서 하나의 큰 이정표로 작용했다고 생각합니다. 이 경험을 바탕으로 앞으로 저를 더욱 성숙시키고 발전시키는 계기가 될 것이라 믿어 의심하지 않습니다.

끝으로 저를 믿으며 항상 응원을 마지않는 사랑하는 우리 부모님과 누나에게 깊은 감사의 마음을 전하며 이 글을 마칩니다.

유영상 드림

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT ······1
I. INTRODUCTION·······3
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS
1. Plasmid construction 5
2. Cell culture·····5
3. Gene transfection
4. Neural differentiation 7
5. Cell transplantation 7
6. In Vivo Imaging System (IVIS) ······8
7. Luciferase Assays
8. ELISA Assay·····9
9. Immunocytochemistry9
10. Western blotting 10
11. Cell viability assay 10
12. Statistical analysis 11

III. RESULTS

1.	Establish gene expression system in mouse neural stem
	cells·····13
2.	Expression pattern of neural stem cells transfected with a neuronal cell
	type-inducible luciferase over-expressing system (NSE-Luci)
3.	Transgene expression pattern in differentiated neuron·····23
4.	Transgene expression pattern <i>in vivo</i> ·····28

5. 7	Therapeutic Gene, GM-CSF, expression pattern of a neuronal cell-type					
j	inducible gene expressing system (NSE-GMCSF) ·······31					
6.	GM-CSF expression sustains to transplanted cell survival······34					
7.	Cell survival effect of GM-CSF in vitro36					
8.	GM-CSF expression pattern and anti-apoptotic effect of NSE-GMCSF					
i	<i>in vivo</i> 38					
IV. DIS	SCUSSION·····41					
V. CON	NCLUSION·····44					
REFER	ENCES······45					
ABSTR	ACT (IN KOREAN) ······50					

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Plasmid construction and characterization of mouse neural						
stem cells14						
Figure 2. Transfection efficiency and gene expression in						
mNSCs·····16						
Figure 3. Luciferase expression pattern of neural stem cells						
introduced with a neuronal cell type-inducible luciferase						
over-expression system (NSE-Luci) in normoxia and						
hypoxia·····19						
Figure 4. Neuronal cell type-inducible luciferase gene over-						
expression systems in non-neuronal cells						
Figure 5. High luciferase expression pattern after differentiation						
into neurons······24						
Figure 6. A neuronal cell type luciferase expression pattern after						
differentiation into neurons						
Figure 7. Luciferase expression pattern of neuronal cell type-						
inducible luciferase gene over-expressing neural stem						
cells after transplantation29						
Figure 8. NSE-GMCSF in normoxia, hypoxia and injury						
condition 32						
Figure 9. The secretion pattern of GM-CSF following transient						
expression						

Figure 10. Cell survival as the effect of GM-CSF in vitro37

Figure 12. The anti-apoptotic effect of GM-CSF in vivo40

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.List of Antibodies used in the whole experiments12

ABSTRACT

Development of Neuronal Cell Type Inducible GM-CSF Gene Expression System and Combined Cell Therapy in Spinal Cord Injury Model

Youngsang You

Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Yoon Ha)

Promising therapy is needed to treat spinal cord injury (SCI) associated with permanent neurological damage. It is difficult to expect a sufficient therapeutic outcome by a single treatment method. Therefore, a strategy combining two or more techniques might be better for improving therapeutic effects.

In this study, it was designed that a merged treatment strategy using neural stem cells (NSCs) introduced with neuronal cell-type inducible transgene expression system controlled by a neuronal specific enolase (NSE) promoter to maximize the therapeutic efficiency. The luciferase gene was chosen to confirm whether this combined system was working properly prior to using a therapeutic gene. The luciferase expression levels of NSCs introduced with a neuronal cell-type inducible luciferase expression system (NSE-Luci) or with a general luciferase expression system (SV-Luci) were measured and compared *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

After verified neuronal cell-specific gene expression by luciferase gene, therapeutic gene, GM-CSF, was substituted with luciferase gene. Neuronal cell type-inducible GM-CSF expression system (NSE-GMCSF) compared with a general GM-CSF

expression system (SV-GMCSF) in vitro and in vivo.

The results show that neural stem cells introduced with a neuronal cell-type inducible luciferase expression system (NSE-Luci) showed a high level of luciferase expression compared to neural stem cells introduced with a general luciferase expression system (SV-Luci). And also therapeutic gene system, a neuronal cell-type inducible GM-CSF expression system (NSE-GMCSF) was higher expressed GM-CSF than a general GM-CSF expression system (SV-GMCSF).

A neuronal cell-type inducible gene expression system has been demonstrated that it's suitable for NSCs in a merged-treatment strategy. Therefore, it is suggested that this merged-treatment strategy based on NSCs and a neuronal cell-type–inducible gene expression system is a promising tool for treatment of neurodegenerative disorder, including SCI.

Key words: Neuronal specific enolase (NSE), Granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF), Neuronal cell-type inducible transgene expression, Neural stem cells (NSCs), Merged treatment strategy, Spinal cord injury (SCI)

Development of Neuronal Cell Type Inducible GM-CSF Gene Expression System and Combined Cell Therapy in Spinal Cord Injury Model

Youngsang You

Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Yoon Ha)

I. INTRODUCTION

Spinal cord injury (SCI) is often associated with permanent disability as a result of sensory or motor functional defects caused by neuronal death and demyelination after primary physical damage.¹ A single treatment strategy is unlikely to result in complete recovery. Therefore, a merged-treatment method might be effective for improving the therapeutic efficacy. In the field of gene therapy, therapeutic gene expression controlled by hypoxia-specific or tissue-specific gene expression systems offers a possibility for efficient and safe gene therapy.²⁻⁶

In the stem cells therapy field, transplantation with neural stem cells (NSCs) showed therapeutic potential in animal models with incurable disorders, including SCI.^{7,8} Interestingly, it has been reported that stem cells can be used as a gene delivery system,⁹ and stem cell-mediated gene therapy resulted in a better therapeutic outcome and more stable therapeutic gene delivery than single therapy with stem cells or therapeutic genes alone.¹⁰⁻¹³

Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), synonym is colony stimulating factor (CSF2), which is also known as a hematopoietic factor and is a

14.2kDa globular protein structure secreted by macrophages, T cell, mast cells, NK cells, endothelial cell and fibroblasts.¹⁴ GM-CSF is 125 amino acids and is essential for the *in vitro* proliferation and differentiation of precursor cells into mature granulocyte and macrophage.¹⁵

GM-CSF recruited monocytes and macrophage and convert to their mature form.¹⁶ After mature macrophages are transfer to a lesion site, they remove the debris that interferes with neuronal regeneration.¹⁷ GM-CSF is possible to pass through the blood-brain barriers or blood-cerebrospinal-fluid barriers so that GM-CSF is potentially pharmacological material for the treatment of CNS injury.¹⁸ The results in many previous studies were shown that GMCSF not only regulates formation of glial scar, also promotes survival of neuronal cells *in vitro* and in SCI and Parkinson's disease model.¹⁹⁻²³ Anti-apoptotic effect of GMCSF was also demonstrated in clinical study.^{24,25} Based on the results of previous research, GM-CSF was chosen as a therapeutic gene to combine with the neuronal cell type-inducible gene expression system.

Considering that most stem cell therapies for SCI have used neural stem cells or neural precursor cells, which have high neuronal differentiation potentials, the neuron specific enolase (NSE) promoter was chosen for transgene over-expression in neural stem cells which have it considerably. It was assumed that a combined treatment strategy based on NSCs which were controlled by NSE promoter would increase therapeutic efficiency and neural differentiation. Finally, it was demonstrated that an NSE promoter is suitable with NSCs for the establishment of a gene and neural stem cell therapy platform.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Plasmid construction

A neuronal cell type-inducible luciferase expression system (NSE-Luci) and a general luciferase expression system (SV-Luci) were made by pGL3 luciferase reporter vectors to verify that the NSE with mNSCs was suitable for a merged therapy strategy. SV-Luci was purchased from Promega (Madison, WI, USA, Cat.no E1761). Neuron-specific enolase promoter was provided by Professor Lee (Hanyang University, Seoul, Korea). The NSE region was inserted between NheI and BgIII sites of a pGL3-basic vector (Promega, Cat.no E1751).

Another experiment 2, SV-GMCSF and NSE-GMCSF vector were made by a backbone of SV-Luci and NSE-Luci vectors. The Luciferase gene was replaced by mouse GM-CSF (Sino biological Inc., Beijing, China). The construction designs of the plasmids are shown in Fig. 1A.

2. Cell culture

Mouse neural stem cells (mNSCs) were used in this study. mNSCs (CRL-2925, ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA) were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) / F12 and supplemented with 10 % Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS; Thermo Scientific HyClone, Logan, UT, USA), and 1 % penicillin and streptomycin (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Approximately, 4×10^4 cells/cm² were seeded with culture media. the culture dishes were incubated at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5 % CO₂.

For the other experiment, we used the human embryonic kidney cells (HEK 293FT) which were provided from Professor Kang (Yonsei University, Seoul, Korea). Cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10 % FBS, 1 % Penicillin and Streptomycin, 1 X Non-Essential Amino Acid (NEAA, Invitrogen) and 1 X Sodium pyruvate (Invitrogen). Approximately 6×10⁵ cells were

plated in 6-well culture dishes $(6 \times 10^4 \text{ cells/cm}^2)$ and incubated at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5 % CO₂.

3. Gene transfection

Only transient gene expression method was used throughout the experiment. To generate transfected mNSCs, plasmid vectors (4 μ g DNA per well) were used with Lipofectamine 2000 (10 μ l per well; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, US) or ViafectTM (10 μ l per well : Promega, Madison, WI, USA).

Before experiments were conducted, the transfection efficiency into mNSCs was tested. mNSCs (approximately 2×10^4 cell/cm²) were seeded with a mixture of DsRed plasmid /ViafectTM) in a 6-well plate, then incubated under normal conditions (pO₂, 21 %, 37 °C) for 48 h. DsRed and DAPI positive cells were counted.

In the first experiment, approximately, 2×10^4 cells/cm² mNSCs were seeded with a mixture of plasmids/Lipofectamin with DMEM/F12 media in a 6 well plate and incubated under normal condition (pO₂, 21 %). The day after transfection, culture media was changed and incubated in hypoxia condition (pO₂, 1 %) during 24 h. Over-expression of transfected gene was demonstrated by luciferase assay and IVIS image.

In the second experiment, GM-CSF expression, approximately 2×10^4 cells/cm² of mNSCs were seeded with mixture of plasmids/ViafectTM with DMEM/F12 media in a 6 well plate and incubated in 37 °C for 48 h. Like a first experiment in hypoxia condition, transfected cells were incubated in hypoxia chamber, with or without DMSO, in 24 h from the day after transfection. After total 48 h, GM-CSF expression was determined by using supernatant of media with the mouse GM-CSF ELISA kit.

Whether the levels of expression of GM-CSF were sustained, mNSCs (approximately 2×10^4 cells/cm²) were seeded in a 6-well plate and transfected with a mixture of transfection reagent and each group of vectors (Control, SV-GMCSF, and NSE-GMCSF). The supernatant was harvested at 3, 5, and 7 days after transfection. The amount of GM-CSF secreted in culture media was measured using the mouse GM-

CSF ELISA kit.

4. Neural differentiation

For inducing of neural differentiation, mNSCs were cultured in presence of retinoic acid (RA, sigma, USA) for 7 days. RA was dissolved in DMSO (working solution, 10 mM), and diluted with culture media (final concentration, 1 μ M). Briefly, mNSCs were seeded on poly-L-lysine (2 μ g/cm², Sigma, StLouis, MO, USA) – coated glass cover slips at a density of 2×10⁴ cells/cm², and then transfected with the plasmid. After 24 h incubation, the medium was replaced with a complete medium with or without RA and then changed every 2 days. Neural differentiation was carried out for 7 days.

5. Cell transplantation

All protocols were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of the Medical Research Institute at Yonsei University College of Medicine. All experiments were conducted in accordance with international guidelines on the ethical use of animals, and the number of animals used was minimized. ICR mice (male, 6 weeks, 30 g, OrientBio, Gyeonggi-do, Korea) were intraperitoneally injected with Ketamine (100 mg/kg, Yu-han, Seoul, Korea), and Rompun (10 mg/kg, Bayer Korea, Seoul, Korea) for anesthetization. Laminectomy was performed at thoracic level 11. Spinal cord injury was carried out using a self-closing forcep (compression injury for 10 sec).

7 days after SCI, animals were anesthetized and transfected mNSCs of each group were transplanted into a lesion of a spinal cord. At the experiment 1, mNSCs of each group were prepared by conducting transfection with SV-Luci and NSE-Luci at the day before for transplantation. At the experiment 2, all mice were randomly divided into 4 groups : Sham (only SCI) and Control (Ds-Red), SV-GMCSF and NSE-GMCSF.

mNSCs of all groups were transplanted to spinal cords for 2 min $(5 \times 10^5 \text{ cells in a 2} \mu \text{l volume})$ using a micro-injector pump (KDS310; KD Scientific, US). The exposure site was sealed using suture wound clips and Cyclosporine A (10 mg/kg) and Cefazolin (20 mg/kg, Yu-han) were injected into mice daily until being sacrificed. Mice were sacrificed within 1 day after transplantation to detect a gene expression and sacrificed 4 days to conduct western blotting.

6. In Vivo Imaging System (IVIS)

The IVIS Spectrum (Xenogen, Alameda, CA, USA) was used to detect luciferase expression. For *in vivo* imaging, mice were anesthetized with ketamine (100 mg/kg) and Rompun (10 mg/kg), and then the substrate D-luciferin (150 mg/kg) was injected intraperitoneally. Twenty minutes after injection, bioluminescence images were captured for 10 min. Regions of interest (ROIs) were analyzed and total quantification of bioluminescence was quantified using Living Image[®] (Xenogen) software. For *in vitro* imaging, the substrate D-luciferin (150 µg/ml) was added to the Control (DsRed), SV-Luci, and NSE-Luci in medium, followed by mounting and bioluminescence detection for 2–3 min.

7. Luciferase Assays

Transfected cells were harvested and lysed with Pro-prepTM (iNtRON biotechnology, Gyeonggi-do, Korea) adding 400 μ l for *in vitro* transfection assay. The concentrations of the extracted protein were measured by using BCA protein assay kit (Pierce, Iselin, NJ) and amount of luciferase expression was detected by using Luminometer by relative light units (RLU) for 10 sec. the level of luciferase expression was presented by RLU per mg of total protein. For *ex vivo* assay, anesthetized animals were conducted perfusion with PBS and immediately extracted that spinal cord segments at 4 mm rostral and caudal of the transplanted region. Samples were transferred to the

micro centrifuge and then lysed with lysis buffer 400 μ l for 1 h and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was poured into other tubes and measured the quantity of extracted protein and the level of luciferase expression.

8. ELISA Assay

To detect levels of secreted GM-CSF in spinal cords, a kit of mouse GM-CSF ELISA (Young-In Frontier Inc., Seoul, Korea) was used. Before using the ELISA kit, the samples were prepared with collecting sample media *in vitro*. supernatant of media was separated by centrifuging at 2,000 \times g for 10 min at 4 $^{\circ}$ C and stored at -20 $^{\circ}$ C until testing took place.

For *in vivo* model, to detect the level of secreted GM-CSF in spinal cords, all spinal cords were removed after saline perfusion to eliminate blood, and temporarily stored at -70 °C. Before conduct ELISA, spinal cord samples were lysed with 400 µl ProprepTM for 1 h to extract protein. Extracted proteins were used to ELISA assay and total concentrations of the extracted protein were measured using BCA protein assay kit. ELISA assay was conducted following the manufacturer's protocol. Standard and samples of serum or supernatant media (100 µl per well) were added to the plate and incubated for 2 h at room temperature. Then secondary antibody solution and streptavidin HRP solution were added to each well and incubated for 1h. Before starting each step, washing the well was conducted 3 times. After substrate were added into each well, stop solution were add in 5 min. ELISA assay was measured by using the ELISA reader (VERSAmax, Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). The values of the sample's optical density (OD) were detected at 450 nm.

9. Immunocytochemistry

Differentiated cells were fixed in 4 % paraformaldehyde, pH 7.4 (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), for 10-15 min at RT. Samples were washed with phosphate buffered saline

(PBS, Thermo) three times. Blocking was performed with 10 % normal donkey serum in PBS containing 0.3 % Triton X-100 for 60 min at RT. Primary antibodies against beta-III-Tubulin (TUJ1), microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2), neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM), Luciferase and neuro-filament heavy (NF-H) were incubated overnight at 4 °C. Samples were washed three times with PBS, and secondary antibodies were added and incubated for 1 h at RT. Samples were washed three times with PBS, and 4', 6'-diamino-2-phenylinodole (DAPI; Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA, USA) was added. Samples were covered with glass coverslips. A laser confocal microscope (LSM 700; Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) was used for analysis.

10. Western blotting

Western blotting was conducted to determine the function of the therapeutic gene GM-CSF. All of the extracted tissue lysates were prepared and loaded onto SDS-PAGE gels (10-12 % gel, Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA). After electrophoresis, transferring and blocking, primary antibodies targeting Bax (dilutions of 1:1,000, Millipore Corp., Milford, MA, USA) and β -actin (1:10,000, Abcam, Cambridge, UK) were applied. After conjugation of secondary antibodies, detection of protein signals was performed with the automatic X-ray film processor (TM-300E; TAEAHN Inc, Incheon, Korea), and densitometry was quantified using ImageJ (NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA).

11. Cell viability assay

The protective effect of GM-CSF was measured in 96-well plates by using the MTT assay. mNSCs were seeded at a density of 0.5×10^4 /cm² and incubated for 3 days with supernatant media from each group (Control, SV-GMCSF, NSE-GMCSF) and treated with a chemically toxic reagent (diluted in 1 % DMSO) for an additional 24 h. MTT

reagent (final concentration of 0.5mg/ml; Sigma) was added to each well. After 3 h, the viability of cells was measured using the ELISA reader (VERSAmax) at 562 nm.

12. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Prism 6 (Graphpad, San Diego, CA, USA) and MedCalc software version 14.12.0 (MedCalc, Mariakerke, Belgium). All data were evaluated using Student's t-test and a one-way ANOVA followed by the Tukey-Kramer Post hoc test. All data are expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (S.E.M). A *P*-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Antibody	Host	Product Information		Dilution
7 Millboury		Company	Cat.No	Factor
MAP2	Mouse	Abcam	AB11267	1:500
MAP2	Rabbit	Abcam	AB32454	1:200
Luciferase	Goat	Novus	100-1677	1:500
Neurofilament-H	Chicken	Abcam	AB4680	1:1000
TuJ1	Rabbit	Abcam	AB18207	1:1000
NCAM	Rabbit	Abcam	AB75813	1:200
Bax	Rabbit	Upstate biotechnology	06-499	1:1000
β-actin	Mouse	Abcam	AB8226	1:10,000
GMCSF	Mouse	Abcam	AB9741	1:1000

Table 1. List of Antibodies used in the whole experiments

III. RESULTS

1. Establish gene expression system in mouse neural stem cells

Whole experiments were conducted using pGL3 based plasmid. NSE-Luci was constructed using neuron specific enolase (NSE) promoter and pGL3-basic plasmid. SV-GMCSF and NSE-GMCSF was made by substituted luciferase gene of SV-Luci and NSE-Luci to GM-CSF gene (Fig. 1A).

To examine the neuronal differentiation potency of mNSCs used in this study, cells were cultured in differentiation media containing RA (1 μ M) for 7 days. Differentiated cells were positive with the neuronal markers TUJ1, MAP2, NCAM, and neuro-filament. This result showed that cells used in this study are neural stem cells which can be differentiated into neurons (Fig. 1B-D).

Before whole experiments were conducted, transfection characteristic was confirmed. Because of using transient gene expression system, transfection efficiency and gene expression in mNSCs was tested.

Transfection efficiency in mNSCs was measured by using DsRed expression vector. 2 days after transfection, positive cells of DsRed or DAPI were counted and compared with them. The average of DsRed positive cell was 40 % percentage compared with DAPI (Fig. 2A).

The target gene expression by transfected mNSCs was confirmed. After mNSCs were transfected with SV-GMCSF or NSE-GMCSF, the immune-fluorescence staining was conducted using anti-GMCSF. Although anti-GM-CSF was positive in mNSCs, but there didn't show a difference between SV-GMCSF and NSE-GMCSF. This means that over-expressed GMC-SF was secreted extra-cellular membrane (Fig. 2B).



Figure 1. Plasmid construction and characterization of mouse neural stem cells

(A) Plasmid construction of neuronal cell type-inducible or general luciferase overexpression vectors. The NSE promoter region was inserted to pGL3-basic vector after digestion (NheI and BgIII sites). The mouse GM-CSF was inserted into luciferase site sites of neuronal cell type-inducible or general luciferase expression vector. Neuronal differentiation potency of mNSCs was confirmed by fluorescence staining specific for each neuron. (B and C) Most of the differentiated cells were positive for neuronspecific markers such as beta-III-tubulin, MAP2, and NCAM. (D) The thick axonal bundle was confirmed by staining with neuro-filament and beta-III-tubulin.





Figure 2. Transfection efficiency and gene expression in mNSCs

(A) The DsRed expressing plasmid was transfected into mNSCs to examine the transfection efficiency in mNSCs. 2 days after transfection into mNSCs, DsRed or DAPI positive cells were counted. About 40 % of mNSCs were positive with DsRed compared with DAPI positive cells. Fluorescence scale bar, 200 μ m. (B) Immune-fluorescence staining was carried out for detecting of GM-CSF expression in mNSCs which were transfected with SV-GMCSF or NSE-GMCSF. There are no difference between SV-GMCSF and NSE-GMCSF. Fluorescence scale bar, 20 μ m.

2. Expression pattern of neural stem cells transfected with a neuronal cell typeinducible luciferase over-expression system (NSE-Luci)

The level of luciferase expression in mNSCs was investigated which were transfected with Control (DsRed), SV-Luci, and NSE-Luci plasmid to confirm whether this neuronal cell type-inducible gene over-expression system is suitable for mNSCs. Based on the results of IVIS and the luciferase assay, luciferase expression significantly increased in NSE-Luci compared to SV-Luci (Fig. 3). These results indicate that the neuronal cell type-inducible transgene over-expression system is suitable for mNSCs.

To identify whether the transgene over-expression pattern can be sustained after hypoxic injury (mimicking tissue ischemia after SCI), the luciferase expression levels of Control, SV-Luci, and NSE-Luci were compared after hypoxic injury for 24 h. the luciferase expression level significantly increased in NSE-Luci compared to that in SV-Luci (Fig. 3). These results indicate that the merged therapy strategy with mNSCs and a neuronal cell type-inducible gene over-expression system can be applied to spinal cord injuries that cause tissue ischemia.

In order to assure whether the NSE was selectively working in neuronal lineage cells, the luciferase expression levels were examined in HEK 293FT cells, which are human embryonic kidney cells, transfected with Control (DsRed), SV-Luci, and NSE-Luci plasmid. The luciferase expression level in 293FT transfected with NSE-Luci plasmid was significantly lower than 293FT transfected with SV-Luci plasmid (Fig. 4). This result means that the efficacy of the neuronal cell-type–inducible gene expression system depends on neuronal lineage cell type.





Normoxia

Нурохіа



Figure 3. Luciferase expression pattern of neural stem cells introduced with a neuronal cell type-inducible luciferase over-expression system (NSE-Luci) in normoxia and hypoxia

Luciferase expression levels of Control, SV-Luci, and NSE-Luci were examined by luciferase expression imaging, the day after transfection, which were incubated at 24 h more in normoxia or hypoxia. (A) The result of luciferase expression imaging of IVIS indicates that luciferase in NSE-Luci group was highly over-expressed compared to the other groups. The color scale bar indicates the luciferase expression level. (B) Quantitative analysis of luciferase expression imaging in Fig. 3A. (C) Luciferase expression levels of Control, SV-Luci, and NSE-Luci examined by luciferase assay. Luciferase expression of NSE-Luci was much higher than the other groups in normoxia and hypoxia. * P < 0.05. Data represent mean \pm S.E.M.



Figure 4. Neuronal cell type-inducible luciferase gene over-expression systems in non-neuronal cells

To confirm whether the NSE was selectively working in neuronal lineage cells, Human Embryonic Kidney 293 cells (HEK-293FT), non-neuronal cells, were transfected. Luciferase expression levels of SV-Luci and NSE-Luci were confirmed by luciferase assay at 48 h after transfection. * P < 0.05. Data represent mean \pm S.E.M.

3. Transgene expression pattern in differentiated neuron

In order to verify whether the luciferase expression pattern of the NSE-Luci can be increased after neuronal differentiation (1 μ M RA) compared to neural stem cells stage (0 μ M RA), the level of luciferase expression was compared between neural stem cells which were un-differentiated and differentiated neuron and also compared between NSE-Luci and SV-Luci after inducing neuronal differentiation. The luciferase expression level of NSCs transfected with NSE-Luci plasmid was much higher after neuronal differentiation than un-differentiation (Fig. 5). At the neuronal differentiation condition (1 μ M RA), the luciferase expression level of NSE-Luci was significantly higher than that of SV-Luci (Fig. 6).

These results mean that the transgene expression by NSE promoter was induced by neuronal differentiation. Thus, these findings indicate that the neuronal cell typeinducible transgene over-expression system appropriates with NSCs which have the neuronal differentiation potency for merged treatment strategy.



Α

В

Undifferentiated mNSCs (0 µM RA)



Neuronal Differentiated Cells (1 μ M RA)



Figure 5. High luciferase expression pattern after differentiation into neurons

Induced cell differentiation with treatment of 1 μ M RA for 7 days after transfected with NSE-Luci, Luciferase expression level was compared between undifferentiated (without RA) and differentiated cells (with 1 μ M RA). (A and B) Double staining was conducted by using immunocytochemistry with MAP2⁺ (mature neuronal marker, Green) and Luciferase⁺ (Luciferase marker, Red). The positive cells by immunostaining were indicated by arrows. (C) The Luciferase expression level of differentiated neurons was compared with undifferentiated neurons by using the luciferase assay. Luciferase expression was significantly greater in differentiated neurons than in neural stem cells. * P < 0.05. Data represent mean ± S.E.M.



Figure 6. A neuronal cell type luciferase expression pattern after differentiation into neurons

After induced differentiation for 7 days, a neuronal cell-type luciferase expression system was compared with a general luciferase expression system. (A) IVIS imaging

indicated that NSE-Luci was over-expressed luciferase than SV-Luci. (B) Using Luciferase assay, the luciferase expression level of NSE-Luci after neuronal differentiation was significantly greater than that of SV-Luci after differentiation. * P < 0.05. Data represent mean \pm S.E.M.

4. Transgene expression pattern in vivo

To confirm whether NSE-Luci show a consistent high expression pattern *in vivo*, both SV-Luci and NSE-Luci were transplanted into the spinal cord, and carried an IVIS analysis and luciferase assay was carried out 24 h after transplantation. Similar to our results *in vitro*, the luciferase expression level was significantly higher in NSE-Luci than in SV-Luci (Fig. 7A and B). These results indicated that a merged treatment strategy based on neuronal cell type-inducible transgene expression system and NSCs can be applied to spinal cord injury.



Figure 7. Luciferase expression pattern of neuronal cell type-inducible luciferase gene over-expressing neural stem cells after transplantation

(A) To define over-expression level of luciferase gene by NSE::Luci *in vivo*, transfected mNSCs ($5x10^5$ cells/2µl) were transplanted 7 days after SCI mice model. Luciferase expression pattern of SV-Luci and NSE-Luci confirmed by IVIS 24 h after cell transplantation. NSE-Luci transplanted into spinal cord showed a high luciferase expression compared to SV-Luci after transplantation. The color scale indicates the luciferase expression level, not the cell numbers in this study. (B) Luciferase expression pattern of SV-Luci and NSE-Luci confirmed by luciferase assay 24 h after cell transplantation. NSE-Luci transplanted into the spinal cord consistently showed a high luciferase expression pattern compared to SV-Luci after transplanted into the spinal cord consistently showed a high luciferase expression pattern compared to SV-Luci after transplantation. * P < 0.05. Data represent mean \pm S.E.M.

5. Therapeutic Gene, GM-CSF, expression pattern of a neuronal cell-type inducible gene expression system (NSE-GMCSF)

To confirm expressing therapeutic gene, luciferase gene was substituted to mouse GM-CSF gene which is reported that GM-CSF has the effect survival of neuronal cell (Fig. 1A). GM-CSF is secreted cytokine, thus mature GM-CSF will be secreted out of the extracellular membrane.

The level of secreted GM-CSF was investigated in culture media for 2 days after transfection with the GM-CSF expression vector. The amount of GM-CSF secreted into the culture media was significantly increased in the supernatant of mNSCs transfected with NSE-GMCSF plasmids compared to mNSCs transfected with Control (Ds-Red) or SV-GMCSF plasmid (Fig. 8A).

In order to examine whether the GM-CSF over-expression pattern of mNSCs with the neuronal cell type-inducible gene over-expression system was maintained after transplantation into an ischemic environment, the amount of secreted GM-CSF was measured by conducting ELISA after mNSCs which were transfected with NSE-GMCSF or SV-GMCSF were cultured in hypoxia or cell-toxicity conditions (mimicking an ischemic environment). The GM-CSF over-expression pattern of NSE-GMCSF was consistent in the hypoxia or cell-stress conditions (Fig. 8B and C). Therefore, these results demonstrate that the neuronal cell type-inducible gene overexpression system is stable, even after replacing luciferase with GM-CSF.





Figure 8. NSE-GMCSF in normoxia, hypoxia and injury condition

A day after transfection, mNSCs were incubated in (A) normoxia, (B) hypoxia and (C) injury condition (hypoxia + 1 % DMSO) for 1 day. The expression level of GM-CSF was measured by conducting the GMCSF ELISA assay with the culture media where GM-CSF was secreted. NSE-GMCSF was higher express GM-CSF than other groups. * P < 0.05. Data represent mean ± S.E.M.

6. GM-CSF expression sustains to transplanted cell survival

To neuronal survival, expression of GM-CSF is more sustain than Control (DsRed) group until neuronal differentiation. The secretion period of GM-CSF into the culture media has been checked after transient gene transfection was carried out. The amount of GM-CSF secreted in culture media was measured at 3, 5 and 7 days after conducting transfection with SV-GMCSF and NSE-GMCSF. The result showed that GM-CSF secretion was sustained for about 7 days; also, the GM-CSF over-expression pattern of NSE-GMCSF was sustained after 7 days (Fig. 9).



Figure 9. The secretion pattern of GM-CSF following transient expression

To activate the protective effect of GM-CSF to transplanted mNSCs, highly overexpression and continuous secretion of GM-CSF were need. The amount of GM-CSF secreted in culture media at 3, 5 and 7 days after transfection with SV-GMCSF and NSE-GMCSF. Until secretion of GM-CSF became extinct, the expression level of GM-CSF by NSE-GMCSF was higher sustained than SV-GMCSF. * P < 0.05. Data represent mean ± S.E.M.

7. Cell survival effect of GM-CSF in vitro

The MTT assay was used to test the protective effect of GM-CSF in vitro.

To compare with the effect of GM-CSF, mNSCs were incubated for 3 days with supernatant media of each group that had been incubated in normal conditions (Fig. 7A). In order to induce chemical damage into mNSCs, a toxic reagent, 1 % DMSO, was treated to mNSCs for 1 day and then and conducted an MTT assay. The data show that the more the level of GM-CSF increased, more mNSCs survived (Fig. 10). The mNSCs treated with the supernatant media of NSC-GMCSF had the highest survival, compared with other groups of cells. This result indicates that GM-CSF affects to increase the cell viability in injury condition.



Figure 10. Cell survival as the effect of GM-CSF in vitro

To confirm the protective effect of GM-CSF, mNSCs incubated with the culture media of each group for 3 days and then 1 % DMSO was treated 24 h for injury. Cell survival was measured by MTT assay. The higher the level of GM-CSF expressed by mNSCs, the more cell viability increased. * P < 0.05. Data represent mean ± S.E.M.

8. GM-CSF expression pattern and anti-apoptotic effect of NSE-GMCSF *in vivo*

To test whether similar pattern of NSE-Luci expression can be found *in vivo*, injured mice model was divided 4 groups : Sham (Only SCI), Control (DsRed), SV-GMCSF and NSE-GMCSF. Each transfected group was transplanted with transfected mNSCs into lesion of spinal cord. Consistently, the amount of secreted GM-CSF significantly increased in the NSE-GMCSF group, compared to other groups (Fig. 11). This result demonstrated that the neuronal cell type-inducible GM-CSF expression on neural stem cells consistently and stably functions *in vivo*. The level of GM-CSF was showed as a unit of pg/mg of total protein.

After confirming expression of GM-CSF in mNSCs *in vivo*, anti-apoptotic effect of GM-CSF was tested *in vivo*. To find out the effect of GM-CSF, the western blotting was performed using the apoptosis marker Bax on tissue samples collected on post-transplantation day 4. The ratio of Bax/ β -actin in each transplanted cell group was significantly decreased compared to the Control group. Moreover, the level for NSE-GMCSF was decreased compared with Control and SV-GMCSF (Fig. 12A and B).

These results supported the conclusions of previous studies that GM-CSF has a direct or indirect neuro-protective effect and reduces cell apoptosis.



Figure 11. GM-CSF expression pattern of neuronal cell-type inducible GM-CSF expressing neural stem cells after transplantation

mNSCs of each group ($5x10^5$ cell/2µl) was transplanted to spinal cord injury model. A day after transplantation, spinal cord samples were used to ELISA assay. The amount of GM-CSF secreted from transplanted mNSCs, which were transfected by NSE-GMCSF, over-expressed compared to other groups. * P < 0.05. Data represent mean ± S.E.M.



Figure 12. The anti-apoptotic effect of GM-CSF in vivo

4 days after transplanted mNSCs into SCI model, extracted spinal cord lysates were examined by western blotting with apoptotic marker, Bax. (A and B) Western blotting data showed that transplanted mNSCs expressed decreased levels of Bax and NSE-GMCSF expressed highly decreased levels of Bax, compared with other groups. ** P < 0.01. Data represent mean \pm S.E.M.

IV. DISCCUSION

As one of the pathologies that appear after spinal cord injury, an ischemic environment in the spinal cord is caused by the destruction of blood vessels; this ischemic condition lasts from several days to several weeks. The survival rate of the stem cells transplanted into the ischemic environment would normally rapidly decline. Therefore, a gene and stem cell therapy platform based on neural stem cells and a neuronal cell-type–inducible gene expression system were designed to protect transplanted stem cells and the injured spinal cord.

The gene over-expression by neuron specific enolase (NSE) promoter is already known as working on mature neurons. It was confirmed that the luciferase expression level of NSE-Luci was significantly higher than the luciferase expression level of SV-Luci; however, the luciferase expression level of 293FT cells (used as a mean non-neuronal cell type) transfected with NSE-Luci was significantly lower than that of 293FT cells transfected with SV-Luci plasmid. This result means that transgene over-expression by NSE promoter is specifically working at the neural stem cell stage. The previous study also investigated the difference of gene over-expression based on NSE promoter in between neurons and non-neuronal cells such as HEK293 and HeLa cells.⁴ In addition to, it has been known that NSE is expressed not only in mature neuron, but also in other immature cell types such as a neuroblastoma, small cell lung cancer, medullary thyroid cancer, carcinoid tumors, and melanoma.²⁶⁻³² Thus, it suggested that NSE promoter may function extensively in neuronal lineage cells.

NSE-Luci showed a higher luciferase expression level than that of SV-Luci under normoxia and hypoxia. Interestingly, the luciferase expression level of NSE-Luci in hypoxia was higher than that of NSE-Luci in normoxia. This result consider that the response of mNSCs stimulated by hypoxic condition.³³⁻³⁶ In addition to, the luciferase expression level of NSE-Luci was much higher after differentiation into neurons. All of these features can be used advantageously, if the luciferase used in this study were replaced by other therapeutic genes.

In previous study, it was confirmed that NSCs transfected with a hypoxia-inducible

gene expression system should be maintained for at least 1 day under hypoxic conditions for transgene over-expression.³ However, the gene expression level of NSCs transfected with a neuronal cell type-inducible gene over-expression system was sufficiently greater in normoxia, namely before transplantation (saving time, as there is no need to wait 24 h). Thus, the high amount of secreted therapeutic protein may be useful for improving the survival of transplanted stem cells, as well as protecting the injured spinal cord from exposure to an ischemic environment. Subsequently, the high amount of secreted therapeutic protein from transplanted NSCs would be sustained under the ischemic environment and, would also increase further neuronal differentiation.

As known as one of the therapeutic gene, GM-CSF is a secreted cytokine, and mature GM-CSF is secreted out of extracellular membranes. As examining the GM-CSF expression pattern in cell lysates of SV-GMCSF or NSE-GMCSF by Western blot analysis, GM-CSF expression level of NSE-GMCSF was similar to SV-GM-CSF (the data was not shown). Finally, the amount of GM-CSF secreted in culture media was significantly increased in NSE-GMCSF. These results indicate that mature therapeutic protein was properly made by neural stem cells transfected with the neuronal cell type-inducible therapeutic gene over-expression system. The blood brain barrier or blood spinal cord barrier are present in the central nervous system so that it is very difficult to deliver a relatively large sized therapeutic protein to a lesion site by oral ingestion or injection. Based on this problem, direct transplantation of therapeutic gene expressing stem cells at the injured region of the central nervous system may provide the maximal therapeutic benefit by allowing a relatively large sized therapeutic protein to be provided directly and sustainably to the neural tissues or other cells.

In this study, it has a limited part that only focused on the reproducibility regarding the stability or consistency of the neuronal cell type-inducible therapeutic gene overexpression system in neural stem cells. Thus, the biological effect of the therapeutic gene did not further investigated. Because the transient gene transfection method was used in all experiments, the secretion of GM-CSF couldn't be expected beyond 7 days (Fig. 9). In future studies, it will be necessary to establish a stably therapeutic geneexpressing neural stem cell line for long-term secretion of therapeutic protein after transplantation. If that happens, it could be expected that the high amount of the therapeutic gene secreted by therapeutic gene-expressing NSCs will be performed effectively their innate biological function.

Thus, these findings suggest that a neuronal cell type-inducible gene expression system is suitable for use combined with NSCs for expressing a high amount of therapeutic genes, and such gene and neural stem cell therapy methods based on present systems would be very promising tools as potential treatment for spinal cord injury.

V. CONCULSION

In this study, a combined treatment strategy using a neuronal cell type-specific transgene expression system with NSCs was established for spinal cord injury. It was confirmed that the luciferase gene expression level of NSE-Luci was significantly higher than that of SV-Luci. This pattern was sustained after hypoxic injury and *in vivo*. After verified by using Luciferase gene, GM-CSF gene expression level of NSE-GM-CSF was compared with SV-GMCSF. The amount of secreted GM-CSF is significantly increased in the supernatant of NSCs transfected with NSE-GMCSF. The GM-CSF over-expression of NSE-GMCSF was consistently stable in hypoxic or cell stress conditions as well as *in vivo*. It is suggest that a neuronal cell type inducible transgene expression system is suitable for neural stem cells; furthermore, a combined treatment strategy based on a neuronal cell type-inducible therapeutic gene over-expression system and NSCs may provide an effective therapeutic outcome for neurological disease treatment.

REFERENCES

- 1. Hagg T, Oudega M. Degenerative and spontaneous regenerative processes after spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma 2006;23:264-80.
- Lee M, Lee ES, Kim YS, Choi BH, Park SR, Park HS, et al. Ischemic injuryspecific gene expression in the rat spinal cord injury model using hypoxiainducible system. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2005;30:2729-34.
- Jin H, Liu ML, Kim HA, Lee M, An S, Oh J, et al. Role of the oxygendependent degradation domain in a hypoxia-inducible gene expression system in vascular endothelial growth factor gene therapy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2009;34:E952-8.
- Navarro V, Millecamps S, Geoffroy MC, Robert JJ, Valin A, Mallet J, et al. Efficient gene transfer and long-term expression in neurons using a recombinant adenovirus with a neuron-specific promoter. Gene Ther 1999;6:1884-92.
- Tsuchiya R, Yoshiki F, Kudo Y, Morita M. Cell type-selective expression of green fluorescent protein and the calcium indicating protein, yellow cameleon, in rat cortical primary cultures. Brain Res 2002;956:221-9.
- Kugler S, Kilic E, Bahr M. Human synapsin 1 gene promoter confers highly neuron-specific long-term transgene expression from an adenoviral vector in the adult rat brain depending on the transduced area. Gene Ther 2003;10:337-47.
- Iwai H, Nori S, Nishimura S, Yasuda A, Takano O, Fujiyoshi K, et al. Transplantation of neural stem/progenitor cells at different locations in mice with spinal cord injury. Cell Transplant 2013.
- Lu P, Wang Y, Graham L, McHale K, Gao M, Wu D, et al. Long-distance growth and connectivity of neural stem cells after severe spinal cord injury. Cell 2012;150:1264-73.
- 9. Liu ML, Oh JS, An SS, Pennant WA, Kim HJ, Gwak SJ, et al. Controlled nonviral gene delivery and expression using stable neural stem cell line

transfected with a hypoxia-inducible gene expression system. J Gene Med 2010;12:990-1001.

- Kim HM, Hwang DH, Lee JE, Kim SU, Kim BG. Ex vivo VEGF delivery by neural stem cells enhances proliferation of glial progenitors, angiogenesis, and tissue sparing after spinal cord injury. PLoS One 2009;4:e4987.
- Oh JS, An SS, Gwak SJ, Pennant WA, Kim KN, Yoon DH, et al. Hypoxiaspecific VEGF-expressing neural stem cells in spinal cord injury model. Neuroreport 2012;23:174-8.
- An SS, Jin HL, Kim KN, Kim DS, Cho J, Liu ML, et al. Neuroprotective effect of combined hypoxia-induced VEGF and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell treatment. Childs Nerv Syst 2010;26:323-31.
- Lu P, Jones LL, Snyder EY, Tuszynski MH. Neural stem cells constitutively secrete neurotrophic factors and promote extensive host axonal growth after spinal cord injury. Exp Neurol 2003;181:115-29.
- Kim JK, Choi BH, Park HC, Park SR, Kim YS, Yoon SH, et al. Effects of GM-CSF on the neural progenitor cells. Neuroreport 2004;15:2161-5.
- 15. Hayashida K, Kitamura T, Gorman DM, Arai K, Yokota T, Miyajima A. Molecular cloning of a second subunit of the receptor for human granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF): reconstitution of a highaffinity GM-CSF receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990;87:9655-9.
- Krieger M, Both M, Kranig SA, Pitzer C, Klugmann M, Vogt G, et al. The hematopoietic cytokine granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor is important for cognitive functions. Sci Rep 2012;2:697.
- 17. Park HC, Shim YS, Ha Y, Yoon SH, Park SR, Choi BH, et al. Treatment of complete spinal cord injury patients by autologous bone marrow cell transplantation and administration of granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor. Tissue Eng 2005;11:913-22.
- 18. Choi JK, Choi BH, Ha Y, Park H, Yoon SH, Park HC, et al. Signal transduction pathways of GM-CSF in neural cell lines. Neurosci Lett

2007;420:217-22.

- 19. Kim HJ, Oh JS, An SS, Pennant WA, Gwak SJ, Kim AN, et al. Hypoxiaspecific GM-CSF-overexpressing neural stem cells improve graft survival and functional recovery in spinal cord injury. Gene Ther 2012;19:513-21.
- Huang X, Kim JM, Kong TH, Park SR, Ha Y, Kim MH, et al. GM-CSF inhibits glial scar formation and shows long-term protective effect after spinal cord injury. J Neurol Sci 2009;277:87-97.
- 21. Kim NK, Choi BH, Huang X, Snyder BJ, Bukhari S, Kong TH, et al. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor promotes survival of dopaminergic neurons in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridineinduced murine Parkinson's disease model. Eur J Neurosci 2009;29:891-900.
- 22. Kannan Y, Moriyama M, Sugano T, Yamate J, Kuwamura M, Kagaya A, et al. Neurotrophic action of interleukin 3 and granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor on murine sympathetic neurons. Neuroimmunomodulation 2000;8:132-41.
- 23. Huang X, Choi JK, Park SR, Ha Y, Park H, Yoon SH, et al. GM-CSF inhibits apoptosis of neural cells via regulating the expression of apoptosis-related proteins. Neurosci Res 2007;58:50-7.
- 24. Yoon SH, Shim YS, Park YH, Chung JK, Nam JH, Kim MO, et al. Complete spinal cord injury treatment using autologous bone marrow cell transplantation and bone marrow stimulation with granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor: Phase I/II clinical trial. Stem Cells 2007;25:2066-73.
- 25. Kudlak K, Demuro JP, Hanna AF, Brem H. Acute lung injury following the use of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci 2013;3:279-81.
- Osborn M, Dirk T, Kaser H, Weber K, Altmannsberger M. Immunohistochemical localization of neurofilaments and neuron-specific enolase in 29 cases of neuroblastoma. Am J Pathol 1986;122:433-42.
 - 47 -

- Lloyd RV, Sisson JC, Marangos PJ. Calcitonin, carcinoembryonic antigen and neuron-specific enolase in medullary thyroid carcinoma. Cancer 1983;51:2234-9.
- Vinores SA, Bonnin JM, Rubinstein LJ, Marangos PJ. Immunohistochemical demonstration of neuron-specific enolase in neoplasms of the CNS and other tissues. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1984;108:536-40.
- Carney DN, Gazdar AF, Bepler G, Guccion JG, Marangos PJ, Moody TW, et al. Establishment and identification of small cell lung cancer cell lines having classic and variant features. Cancer Res 1985;45:2913-23.
- Ando S, Suzuki M, Yamamoto N, Iida T, Kimura H. The prognostic value of both neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and Cyfra21-1 in small cell lung cancer. Anticancer Res 2004;24:1941-6.
- Koenig A, Wojcieszyn J, Weeks BR, Modiano JF. Expression of S100a, vimentin, NSE, and melan A/MART-1 in seven canine melanoma cells lines and twenty-nine retrospective cases of canine melanoma. Vet Pathol 2001;38:427-35.
- 32. Liu Y, Sturgis CD, Grzybicki DM, Jasnosz KM, Olson PR, Tong M, et al. Microtubule-associated protein-2: a new sensitive and specific marker for pulmonary carcinoid tumor and small cell carcinoma. Mod Pathol 2001;14:880-5.
- Studer L, Csete M, Lee SH, Kabbani N, Walikonis J, Wold B, et al. Enhanced proliferation, survival, and dopaminergic differentiation of CNS precursors in lowered oxygen. J Neurosci 2000;20:7377-83.
- Stenmark KR, Gerasimovskaya E, Nemenoff RA, Das M. Hypoxic activation of adventitial fibroblasts: role in vascular remodeling. Chest 2002;122:326S-34S.
- 35. Chi NC, Karliner JS. Molecular determinants of responses to myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury: focus on hypoxia-inducible and heat shock factors. Cardiovasc Res 2004;61:437-47.

36. Moriyama H, Moriyama M, Isshi H, Ishihara S, Okura H, Ichinose A, et al. Role of notch signaling in the maintenance of human mesenchymal stem cells under hypoxic conditions. Stem Cells Dev 2014;23:2211-24.

ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN)

척추신경손상모델에서 신경계열 세포 특이적 유전자 발현시스템과 신경줄기세포를 이용한 병합 치료 기술 개발

<지도교수 하 윤>

연세대학교 대학원 의과학과

유 영 상

영구적인 신경손상과 관련된 척수 손상 치료에 있어서 유망한 치 료기술이 필요하다. 단일 치료 기술로 충분한 치료효과를 기대하기 힘들기에 두 가지 이상 병합된 치료 기술이 치료 효과를 보다 향상 시킬 수 있을 것이다.

본 연구에서, 치료 효율을 극대화하고자 신경세포 계열 특이적인 프로모터로 조절되는 신경세포 계열 특이적 발현시스템과 신경줄기 세포 병합 기술을 개발하였다. 치료유전자를 사용하기 전에 병합 시 스템이 적절히 작동하는지 확인하고자 루시퍼레이즈 유전자를 선택 하여 신경 세포 계열 특이적 유전자 발현시스템 (NSE-Luci)과 신경 세포 계열 비특이적 유전자 발현시스템 (SV-Luci)을 생체 내와 생체 외 조건에서 비교 분석하였다. 루시퍼레이즈 유전자로 신경세포계열 특이적 유전자 발현시스템을 확인 한 뒤, 치료유전자인 과립대식세 - 50 - 포 자극인자 발현 시스템을 제작하였으며 생체 내와 생체 외 조건에 서 신경세포 계열 특이적 발현시스템을 비교하였다.

실험 결과로 신경줄기세포에 도입된 신경세포계열 특이적 유전자 발현 시스템이 비특이적 유전자 발현시스템보다 루시퍼레이즈 유전 자가 과발현되는 것을 확인하였고 또한 치료유전자 발현시스템에서 과립대식세포 자극인자가 과발현되는 것을 확인하였다.

신경세포 계열 비특이적 유전자 발현시스템보다 신경 세포 계열 특이적 유전자 발현시스템이 신경 줄기 세포와 병합 치료 기술에 있어서 적합하다는 것을 증명해보았다. 따라서, 척수손상과 같은 신경퇴행성 질환 치료에 있어서 이와 같은 병합치료기술이 유용한 기법으로 사용될 수 있음을 제안을 해본다.

핵심되는 말: 신경계열 특이적 프로모터, 과립대식세포 자극인 자, 신경계열 특이적 유전자 발현, 신경줄기세포, 세포병합치료 기술, 척수손상